UNITED
NATIONS C R C

\‘:\\ﬁ/ Convention on the D ERAL
72  Rights of the Child CRC/ O SR 484

27 November 1998

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Ni net eent h sessi on
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 484t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Thursday, 24 Septenber 1998, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson: M ss MASON
CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of lrag (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submtted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the O ficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ais des Nations, Ceneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public neetings of the Conmittee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 98-18394 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 484
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.05 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 4) (continued)

Initial report of Iraq (continued) (CRC/C/41/Add.3; CRCUC/ QIRAQ 1 (list of
issues); witten replies of the Governnent of Iraq to the questions raised in
the list of issues (document wi thout a synbol distributed in the neeting

room)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the menbers of the del egation of
lrag resuned their places at the Commttee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON invited the menmbers of the Conmittee who so wished to
ask the del egation of Iraqg additional questions.

3. Ms. MBO said that she would like to receive fuller information on the
situation of children in alternative care. The nunber of children placed in
State-run hostels had decreased and she wi shed to know what difficulties were
involved in returning to the famly, a child previously cared for by the
State. Noting that the Iraqgi Government had established a plan of action in
that regard, she asked whether the inplenmentation of the plan had been

eval uated, and what the prospects for the future were. What neasures had the
CGovernment taken to ensure that the | aw prohibiting famly viol ence was
respected? She would also like to have nore informati on on the nmeasures taken
to monitor the health of children and adol escents, in the light, inter alia,

of the war and the influence of the media. Had surveys been conducted? WAs
it true that an epidem c of neasles was currently ravaging the country and, if
so, were there enough vaccines? |If not, what was the State doing to renedy
the situation? On the issue of malnutrition, the increase in the nunmber of
children suffering fromnutritional deficiencies was of great concern; had the
State established a conprehensive nutrition strategy ainmed at providing aid to
the nost seriously affected chil dren?

4, Ms. OUEDRAOGO said that she would like information on the problens Iraq
m ght have encountered in inplementing the Abortion Act and the Conpul sory
Education Act. |In the case of teenage pregnancies, what was the State doing

to hel p adol escent nothers and children born out of wedl ock? Was there not a
ri sk of marginalization? She noted that the | aw on nationality discrimnated
agai nst wonen, since the child automatically took the nationality of the
father. \What happened when an Iraqgi worman married a foreigner and could the
children of foreign parents obtain Iraqi nationality? Furthernore, when a
father refused to recognize his child, did that affect the child s rights?

5. M. YOUSIE (lraq), replying to the question about m nes and the
protection of children, said that Irag had made consi derable efforts in that
regard and had, for exanple, spent US$ 1 million on m ne clearance operations,
both in the south and in the north of the country. Anputation was no |onger
inflicted as a punishnment. |Iraq had fulfilled all its obligations with regard
to the preparation of reports to be subnmitted in accordance with the human
rights instrunents to which it was a party.



CRC/ C/ SR. 484
page 3

6. On the question of care by the State for children and adol escents
deprived of their famly environnment, the State provided for all their needs
free of charge (food, clothing, housing and noney). Social Care Act No. 126
of 1980 provided for the placenent in an institution or orphanage of children
i ncludi ng some young people over 18 years of age, who, for various reasons,
were no | onger under parental care. Such children received their schooling in
ordi nary schools at the appropriate academ c | evel and received help with
social reintegration. Any discrimnation against themwas prohibited and
coul d be prosecuted. Orphanages had a social service which ensured the

foll owup of children, |ooked into the possibility of placing themwth a
foster famly and hel ped themto | ook for work or continue wi th higher
education. It was, however, regrettable that the |ack of avail abl e resources,
made it inpossible to care for as many children as previously.

7. Wth regard to violence towards children, the |aw prohibited the use of
vi ol ence against pupils. As to violence within the famly, it should be noted
that cultural differences accounted for the fact that certain educationa

met hods specific to Iraq m ght appear violent, but, in any case, children were
protected agai nst violence in general. The Mnors Act authorized children to
bring a | egal case against their parents or guardi ans, as applicable. If the
sentence confirmed the guilt of the parents or guardi ans, the child could be
renoved fromtheir care. In addition, the General Federation of Iragi Wnen
offered a famly consultation service which attenpted to solve all problenms
relating to the famly. Respect for the best interests of the child was
guaranteed by the Welfare of Mnors Act and the Juvenile Welfare Act and the
M nistry of Justice had a department responsible for overseeing and nanagi ng
property belonging to mnors on the death of their father

8. M. ABDULRIDHA (lraq), referring to the nutritional status of the Iragq
popul ati on, said that the inplementati on of the enbargo had prevented the
Government from conmbating malnutrition. Daily per capita intake, which had
been 3,581 calories and 101.6 grames of protein in 1988, had dropped to 1, 030
calories and 24 grammes of protein in 1997. Studies carried out by UN CEF and
WHO showed that children were suffering terribly fromthe situation caused by
the embargo. Children under five years of age showed a rate of emnmciation

(i nadequate wei ght for their height) of 22.06 per cent and a rate of retarded
growt h (height inadequate for their age) of 43.89 per cent. The infant
nortality rate had risen to 111.7 per 1,000 in 1994 as against only 61.7 in
1990. The rate of nortality anong under fives had been 140 per 1,000 in 1994.
A conmparison of infant nortality rates and under-fives nortality rates during
the period before the war (1988-1989) with those for the period during which
sanctions had been inposed (since 1990) showed that the infant nortality rate
had doubled and the nortality rate anong children under five years of age had
i ncreased sixfold. Such increases could be attributed mainly to the

mal nutrition of nmothers and children (iodine deficiency, vitam n deficiency,
anaem a in nothers and pregnant wonmen) and to the preval ence of infectious

di seases (diarrhoea, intestinal infections and acute respiratory ail nents,
inter alia).

9. Irag had | aunched a national canpaign in 1985 to inplenent the Expanded
Programe on | muni zation and control infectious diseases. Iraqgq had also
joined the ranks of the npbst advanced countries in ternms of its results in the
fight against polionyelitis. Unfortunately, the war and the enbargo had |ed



CRC/ T/ SR. 484
page 4

to a sharp deterioration in the quality of health and sanitation services and
soci al security benefits. Nonetheless, Iraqg was making efforts to inprove the
health situation in the country, with the cooperation of WHO and UNI CEF. He
al so noted that there were psychol ogi cal problens (anxiety, depression, sleep
di sturbances) which affected between 60 and 80 per cent of wonmen and chil dren

10. M. HUSSAIN (Irag) said that, owing to the econonic situation
resulting fromthe continuation of the enbargo, many children

between 12 and 16 years of age had been forced to | eave school to help
their famlies. The school drop-out rate had increased from 1.9 per cent
in the 1990-1991 school year to 3.4 per cent in 1994-1995 at the primry
level, from5.1 per cent to 7.6 per cent at the internmediate |evel

and from1.5 per cent to 1.8 per cent at the preparatory level. The
probl em of street children had arisen as a result of the economc
consequences of the enmbargo. Needy families had been forced to put their
children to work, although, under the Juvenile Welfare Act, any child
under 15 years of age found begging in a public place or engaging in an
itinerant activity was considered to be a vagrant. It was not rare

for fathers to be penalized when their children carried out activities

i ncompatible with their physical strength.

11. The marriage procedure in Iraq was regul ated by the Persona

Status Act, according to article 7 of which both spouses nmust be of sound

m nd and over 18 years of age for a marriage to be valid. Article 8 of the
Act stipulated that, when a person aged over 15 years wished to marry, a judge
could authorize the union if he was satisfied that the person requesting it
was | egally and physically ready for marriage and if the | egal guardian had
given consent. On the other hand, a young girl could not be pressured to
marry through force or violence. The registration of births in rural areas no
| onger gave rise to a problem particularly since 1990, because famlies had
to present identity cards for their nmenbers in order to receive food tickets.

12. M. ABDULRIDHA (lraqg) said that, in the southern provinces of Iraq,
particularly in the marsh areas, births had not always been registered, and
that had meant that not all children had benefited fromthe necessary care.
At present, mdw ves had a form which enabled the father to notify the birth
of the child to the nearest primary health-care centre, which then undert ook
to provide a birth certificate.

13. M. YOUSIE (Iraq) said that article 4 of the Nationality Act gave
citizenship to any person born in Iraq or abroad of an Iraqi father, born in
Irag of an Iraqgi nother and an unknown or stateless father, or born in Iraq of
unknown parents. Consequently, Iraqgi nationality depended on the nationality
of the father.

14. Ms. SARDENBERG thanked the Iraqi delegation for its detailed

expl anations and took note of the many positive points touched on. She
encouraged the Government of lIraq to becone a party to the Conventi on agai nst
Torture and Qther Cruel, Inhuman or Degradi ng Treatment or Punishnment. She
appreci ated the del egation's frankness about the fact that, on account of
traditions, it was difficult for children to bring conplaints about possible
ill-treatnment to which they had been subjected by their parents or guardi ans
and stressed that long-termefforts had to be made to rai se awareness. It



CRC/ C/ SR. 484
page 5

woul d be good to prompte the integration of children with disabilities, into
the ordi nary educational system \While recognizing that Irag was in a conpl ex
and difficult situation, she thought that the authorities ought to give
priority attention to the nost serious problems, such as infant nortality and
the poor nutritional status of children. Wre the rights of the child taught
in schools and were specific measures taken in respect of the many refugee
children? Enphasizing article 12 of the Convention, which was at the very
heart of the Convention's nessage, she said that the school environnment was a
particularly favourable framework for devel oping the participation of children
and their ability to express thenselves freely.

15. The Iragi authorities were already taking major steps to guarantee
protecti on agai nst anti-personnel mnes, but, given the extent of the problem
it was to be hoped that they would intensify their efforts, particularly in
terms of educating children and parents and rehabilitating victins. She
recommended that, if it had not already done so, Iraq should becone a State
party to the Convention on the Prohibition of the Use, Stockpiling,

Production, and Transfer of Anti-Personnel Mnes and their Destruction

adopted in 1997. The authorities should also intensify their efforts to solve
the problem of street children, who were particularly exposed to all kinds of
viol ations of their rights.

16. Ms. KARP said that she wi shed to have preci se expl anati ons about the
gap between the age of the end of conmpul sory education and the authorized age
for adm ssion to enploynent. She would also Iike nore information on the
application of article 12 of the Convention, since it was inportant to ensure
that the opinions of the child were duly taken into consideration in al

ci rcunmst ances, whether in the educational, famly or nedical fields. The

i nformati on provided thus far had not reflected the basic idea that children
had the right to their own personality and should be able to nmake their point
of view heard. Wth regard to equality between boys and girls, the
authorities needed to work harder to prevent girls fromdroppi ng out of schoo
particul arly by increasing awareness anong famlies. Wre disabled children
able to attend ordinary schools? Wat was the proportion of disabled children
ininstitutions? Had investigations and research been carried out on cases of
sui ci de anong children and adol escents and on the nunber of accidents they
were involved in? Wo conducted proceedi ngs concerning children in conflict
with the law in areas where there were no juvenile judges? In what
establishnments were juvenile delinquents who |ived far from urban centres

pl aced? Could a child be represented by an officially appoi nted defence
awer? Did the police and the judicial authorities use international texts
relating to juvenile justice, such as the Standard M ninum Rul es for the

Admi ni stration of Juvenile Justice (the Beijing Rules) and the Cuidelines for
the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency (the R yadh Guidelines)? Even if
prostitution was an offence, why did young prostitutes have to serve a
sentence before benefiting fromrehabilitation and reintegration schenes?
Surely they were nore innocent victins than guilty parties?

17. Ms. MBO asked exactly what the new resources provided by the World
Food Programme were being used for. Had the authorities drawn up a strategy
or a distribution plan for getting the aid to the neediest children? Had
measures been taken to ensure that the new resources reached the children who
had the greatest need of then?



CRC/ C/ SR. 484
page 6

18. M . RABAH requested nore informati on about street children, how many
there were, their health situation, where they were found and how they were
treated. What guarantees did juvenile delinquents benefit fromduring the
prelimnary inquiry and interrogations, which were the stages of |ega
proceedi ngs nost frequently associated with the risk of torture and
ill-treatnment? Were third parties present during interrogations? Wre court
hearings public? It was regrettable that an amesty | aw had been applied to
juvenil e delinquents because, if they were ammestied, they could not benefit
fromthe services of re-education centres. What fate awaited juvenile

del i nquents? VWhat were their prospects for the future when they left an
institution? Wre there any programmes to prevent petty crinme, bearing in

m nd that prevention cost |ess than the re-educati on of delinquents and
mar gi nal elements? Did the Mnistry of Justice provide training on children's
rights to social workers and menmbers of the police forces? He also requested
nmore informati on on the nunber of delinquents, the nature of the crines
commtted, and the ethnic background of delinquents.

19. Ms. PALME said that, despite the activities already carried out by the
Iragi Government, particularly in collaboration with UNI CEF, nuch stil

remai ned to be done to prevent accidents caused by anti-personnel mnes, given
that there were still 4 mllion mnes in Iragi soil and to rehabilitate the
victims. Had Irag drawn up a plan of action following its participation in
the Worl d Congress agai nst Commrerci al Sexual Exploitation of Children, held in
Stockhol min 1996, and how were child victinms of sexual abuse and prostitution
vi ewed?

20. Ms. OUEDRAOGO said that she was concerned about the nunber of children
droppi ng out of school to help their parents and asked whether the Nationa
Plan for Children provided for neasures to help such children benefit fully
fromtheir rights to education. The delegation had indicated that enphasis
was placed on the education of children aged 7 to 10; however, education was
compul sory in Iraq until 12 years of age. How were children frommnority
groups integrated; could they attend Iraqgi schools if they wanted to? Did
schools help in preventing and treating the psychol ogi cal problens which many
Iragi children suffered fron? Wre there any traditional practices which
affected the health of children and, if so, what neasures were taken to
elimnate thenf?

21. Ms. MXHUANE asked whether a certain proportion of children in Iraq
continued to have a normal attitude despite their difficult situation and
whet her studi es had been carried out on that issue. It might be possible on
the basis of such research to fornulate nmethods for hel ping traumati zed
children and those with psychological difficulties. Ws there a m ni num wage
for children who worked?

22. M. YOUSIF (Iraq) said that the Social Welfare Act governed the rights
of the disabled, who were categorized as physically or nentally handi capped
and according to whether or not they were capable of working. |t gave any
di sabl ed person the right to benefit from State-financed rehabilitation
There were al so six categories of centres, depending on the type of
disability. H's delegation could provide the Comnittee with various tables
and statistics on the nunber of disabled persons, the institutions in which
they were housed and a breakdown of the statistics by gender. A diagnostic



CRC/ C/ SR. 484
page 7

centre decided which training establishment a disabled child should be sent
to, but, unfortunately, its activities were suffering fromthe |ack of
resources. The idea of placing disabled children in ordinary schools was not
general ly accepted by teachers, who feared that the disabled child would fee
ill at ease in conparison with other children. Despite the difficult economc
circunstances, the authorities hoped to be able to open new training and
rehabilitation centres.

23. It had been recommended that the Iraqi Government shoul d establish
priorities inits aid to children; the National Plan for Children showed that
priority attention was already being given to the problems of nortality and
nutrition and, above all, to the protection of the right to |ife and survival.
As to the possibility of accession to the Convention on the Prohibition of
Anti-Personnel M nes, he did not know exactly what his Governnment's position
was, but thought that the requisite neasures would be taken at the earliest
opportunity. Replying to the questions on juvenile justice, he pointed out
that the 1983 Juvenile Welfare Act covered all issues fromthe early diagnosis
of delinquency to the reintegration of juvenile delinquents and that there was
a social and psychol ogi cal consultation service in each governorate. The

rel evant procedure during interrogations was in conformty with the provisions
of the Convention. At the sentencing stage, the juvenile court decided,
according to circunstances, either to inprison the delinquent or to place him
in a rehabilitation centre. The Iraqi delegation could provide the Commttee
with tables and statistics on the various types of crines commtted by mnors
and the sentences handed down by the juvenile courts.

24. M. ABDULRIDHA (lraqg) said that, in order to help inprove the health and
nutritional status of children in Iraq, famlies received food aid in the form
of rations of sugar, rice, tea, flour and oil, as well as mlk for famlies
with children under one year old. Such aid covered the basic needs of
children and famlies, but it was unfortunately not always possible to
guarantee an adequate intake of calories and proteins on a daily basis. In
order to deal with the situation of children suffering from serious
nutritional deficiencies, the Iragi Governnent had, with the help of the Wrld
Food Programme and UNI CEF, set up child nutrition centres throughout the
national territory where specialists and volunteers cared for children
suffering frommalnutrition. There were also nutrition centres in child
clinics and in general hospitals in the main towns. Sick children were cared
for until their health inproved and nutritional foll owup was al so ensured
once the children were better. Nevertheless, the necessary financia

resources to stock the nutritional rehabilitation centres were not always
avail able in sufficient quantities.

25. As to psychol ogical help, the Mnistry of Education and other ministries
of fered psychol ogi cal services, social welfare assistants and consultants to
hel p children traumatized by the war. Ilraqi schools were open to al

children, including those frommnorities, whether Arabs, Turks, Turkmens or
Assyrians, and education was conpul sory for all until the end of primary
school. Mnority groups also had their own schools where children could be
educated according to their parents' w shes, including the religious
instruction of their choice.



CRC/ C/ SR. 484
page 8

26. The CHAI RPERSON, thanking the lIraqi delegation for its replies to the
guestions asked by the nmenbers of the Commttee, said she hoped that further

i nformati on woul d subsequently be provided on the points that had not yet been
fully covered. She invited the nmenbers of the Commttee to nake their
prelimnary comments on the consideration of the initial report of Irag.

27. M. KOOSOV said that the disastrous consequences of the enmbargo on the
situation of lraqi children were particularly regrettable since the children
t hemsel ves were not responsible for the political decisions taken by the
country's leaders. It was therefore to be hoped that the internationa
comunity woul d do everything possible to ensure the lifting of those
provisions relating to the enbargo which were affecting the humanitarian
situation in Iraq.

28. Among the positive points, there was a wi de-scale youth novenent in the
country which could play an inportant role in increasing young peoples

awar eness of the rights provided for in the Convention. He noted with
interest that the legislation on juvenile justice provided not for

puni shiments, but for support and rehabilitati on measures for juvenile
delinquents. He also noted with satisfaction that education was compul sory
and free and that nedical exam nations were regularly carried out in schools.

29. Anmong matters for concern, he regretted that children in Irag were not
fully able to participate in the pronotion of their own rights as ful
citizens. Moreover, much renained to be done to elimnate the disparities
bet ween urban and rural popul ati ons and between the northern and sout hern

provi nces of the country. It was also regrettable that the Iraqi authorities
did not have reliable statistics on the nunber of street children and working
children, who were not continuing their education. It would be useful for

mlitary personnel to receive training in international humanitarian |aw,
particularly in respect of children. Awareness-raising measures to that end
could be taken in 1999, on the fiftieth anniversary of the adoption of the
1949 CGeneva Convention. 1In conclusion, he hoped that, when it submitted its
next periodic report, the Government of Irag would be able to report on the
progress achieved in elimnating all the harnful effects of the enbargo during
the difficult years the country had been through

30. Ms. MXHUANE said that she shared the opinions expressed by

M. Kol osov. She too considered that every effort should be nade to |ift the
enbargo so that, in future, Iraqi children could |ead a normal life. She

wel comed the dialogue with the Iraqi del egation and assured it that she fully
shared the concerns it had expressed to the Commttee about the situation of
children in Iraqg.

31. Ms. SARDENBERG al so thanked the Iraqi delegation. She understood the
difficulties and obstacles encountered in the country with regard to the
situation of children and stressed that the Committee's task was to help
States parties find solutions through di al ogue.

32. Ms. KARP said it was inportant that the Convention should be w dely
known to the popul ation of Iraq because the new perception of the child
formulated in it could lead to a conplete change of attitude to the greater



CRC/ C/ SR. 484
page 9

benefit of children. She hoped that the Iraqi authorities would exam ne the
Committee's recomrendations in detail and apply themto the fullest possible
extent.

33. Ms. OUEDRAOGO said that she shared the opinions expressed by the
menbers of the Committee and al so hoped that the enmbargo would be rapidly
lifted so that Iraqi children could finally live a normal life. She

enphasi zed, however, that, even if conditions were difficult, the State had a
basic responsibility for the welfare of children. She suggested that the many
provisions in lragi |egislation concerning the protection and devel opment of
the child should be grouped together in a single document which could becone
the Children's Code.

34. Ms. PALME said that she supported Ms. Quedraogo' s suggestion and al so
shared the opinions expressed by the other menmbers of the Conmittee. She
enphasi zed the need to do the utnost to prevent the suffering of the civilion
popul ati on during conflicts such as those Iraq had been through

35. The CHAI RPERSON announced that the Conmittee would transmt its fina
observations, adopted following its consideration of the initial report of
Irag, to the Iragi authorities. She sincerely hoped that, when the next
report of lraq was submitted, the situation of the rights of children in the
country woul d have noticeably inproved.

36. M. YOUSIFE (lraq) thanked the Conmmittee for the constructive dial ogue
which it had established with the Iragi delegation. He reiterated the
invitation extended by the Government of Iraq to the menbers of the Conmmittee
to visit the country in order to assess the situation of Iraqgi children on the
spot and at first hand. Hi s delegation had duly taken note of the
observations and suggesti ons made by nenbers of the Commttee and woul d
transmt themto the conpetent authorities in the hope that they would draw
attention to the need fully to apply the Convention in order to help the
children who lived in such difficult conditions in Irag. He also sincerely
hoped that, when Iragq submtted its next report to the Committee, the enbargo
woul d have been lifted and that the del egati on would be able to report a
consi derabl e i nprovenent in the situation of children in the country.

37. The CHAI RPERSON t hanked the Iraqgi delegation for its participation in
the work of the Comm ttee. She announced that the Commttee had conpleted its
consi deration of the initial report of Irag.

The neeting rose at 6.05 p.m




